
38 

SUBCHAPTER B—REGULATIONS AFFECTING MARITIME 
CARRIERS AND RELATED ACTIVITIES 

PART 221—REGULATED TRANS-
ACTIONS INVOLVING DOCU-
MENTED VESSELS AND OTHER 
MARITIME INTERESTS 

Subpart A—Introduction 

Sec. 
221.1 Purpose. 
221.3 Definitions. 
221.5 Citizenship declarations. 
221.7 Applications and fees. 

Subpart B—Transfers to Noncitizens or to 
Registry or Operation Under Authority 
of a Foreign Country 

221.11 Required approvals. 
221.13 General approval. 
221.15 Approval for transfer of registry or 

operation under authority of a foreign 
country or for scrapping in a foreign 
country. 

221.17 Sale of a documented vessel by order 
of a district court. 

221.19 Possession or sale of vessels by mort-
gagees or trustees other than pursuant to 
court order. 

Subpart C [Reserved] 

Subpart D—Transactions Involving Maritime 
Interests in Time of War or National 
Emergency Under 46 App. U.S.C. 835 
[Reserved] 

Subpart E—Civil Penalties 

221.61 Compliance. 
221.63 Investigation. 
221.65 Criteria for determining penalty. 
221.67 Stipulation procedure. 
221.69 Hearing Officer. 
221.71 Hearing Officer referral. 
221.73 Initial Hearing Officer consideration. 
221.75 Response by party. 
221.77 Disclosure of evidence. 
221.79 Request for confidential treatment. 
221.81 Counsel. 
221.83 Witnesses. 
221.85 Hearing procedures. 
221.87 Records. 
221.89 Hearing Officer’s decision. 
221.91 Appeals. 
221.93 Collection of civil penalties. 

Subpart F—Other Transfers Involving 
Documented Vessels [Reserved] 

Subpart G—Savings Provisions 

221.111 Status of prior transactions—con-
trolling dates. 

AUTHORITY: 46 U.S.C. chs. 301, 313, and 561; 
Pub. L. 114–74; 49 CFR 1.93. 

SOURCE: 57 FR 23478, June 3, 1992, unless 
otherwise noted. 

Subpart A—Introduction 

§ 221.1 Purpose. 

(a) This part implements statutory 
responsibilities of the Secretary of 
Transportation (the Secretary) with re-
spect to: 

(1) The regulation pursuant to 46 
U.S.C. 56101 and 56103of transactions in-
volving transfers of: 

(i) An interest in or control of Docu-
mented Vessels owned by Citizens of 
the United States (including the Trans-
fer of a Controlling Interest in such 
owners) to Noncitizens or; 

(ii) A Documented Vessel to registry 
or Operation under Authority of a For-
eign Country or for scrapping in a for-
eign country; and 

(2) Transactions involving maritime 
interests in time of war or national 
emergency under 46 U.S.C. 56102. 

(b) The responsibilities in paragraph 
(a) (1) and (2) of this section have been 
delegated by the Secretary to the Mari-
time Administrator. 

[57 FR 23478, June 3, 1992, as amended at 63 
FR 6880, Feb. 11, 1998; 78 FR 35771, June 14, 
2013] 

§ 221.3 Definitions. 

For the purpose of this part, when 
used in capitalized form: 

(a) Bowaters Corporation means a 
Noncitizen corporation organized under 
the laws of the United States or of a 
State that has satisfied the require-
ments of 46 U.S.C. 12118 and holds a 
valid Certificate of Compliance issued 
by the Coast Guard. 

(b) Charter means any agreement or 
commitment by which the possession 
or services of a vessel are secured for a 
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period of time, or for one or more voy-
ages, whether or not a demise of the 
vessel. 

(c) Citizen of the United States means a 
Person (including receivers, trustees 
and successors or assignees of such 
Persons as provided in 46 U.S.C. 50502), 
including any Person (stockholder, 
partner or other entity) who has a Con-
trolling Interest in such Person, any 
Person whose stock or equity is being 
relied upon to establish the requisite 
U.S. citizen ownership, and any parent 
corporation, partnership or other enti-
ty of such Person at all tiers of owner-
ship, who, in both form and substance 
at each tier of ownership, satisfies the 
following requirements— 

(1) An individual who is a Citizen of 
the United States, by birth, naturaliza-
tion or as otherwise authorized by law; 

(2) A corporation organized under the 
laws of the United States or of a State, 
the Controlling Interest of which is 
owned by and vested in Citizens of the 
United States and whose chief execu-
tive officer, by whatever title, chair-
man of the board of directors and all 
officers authorized to act in the ab-
sence or disability of such persons are 
Citizens of the United States, and no 
more of its directors than a minority of 
the number necessary to constitute a 
quorum are Noncitizens; 

(3) A partnership organized under the 
laws of the United States or of a State, 
if all general partners are Citizens of 
the United States and a Controlling In-
terest in the partnership is owned by 
Citizens of the United States; 

(4) An association organized under 
the laws of the United States or of a 
State, whose chief executive officer, by 
whatever title, chairman of the board 
of directors (or equivalent committee 
or body) and all officers authorized to 
act in their absence or disability are 
Citizens of the United States, no more 
than a minority of the number of its 
directors, or equivalent, necessary to 
constitute a quorum are Noncitizens, 
and a Controlling Interest in which is 
vested in Citizens of the United States; 

(5) A joint venture, if it is not deter-
mined by the Maritime Administrator 
to be in effect an association or a part-
nership, which is organized under the 
laws of the United States or of a State, 
if each coventurer is a Citizen of the 

United States. If a joint venture is in 
effect an association, it will be treated 
as is an association under paragraph 
(c)(4) of this section, or, if it is in effect 
a partnership, will be treated as is a 
partnership under paragraph (c)(3) of 
this section; or 

(6) A Trust described in paragraph 
(t)(1) of this section. 

(d) Controlling interest owned by and 
vested in Citizens of the United States 
means that— 

(1) In the case of a corporation: 
(i) Title to a majority of the stock 

thereof is owned by and vested in Citi-
zens of the United States, free from 
any trust or fiduciary obligation in 
favor of any Noncitizen; 

(ii) The majority of the voting power 
in such corporation is vested in Citi-
zens of the United States; 

(iii) Through no contract or under-
standing is it so arranged that the ma-
jority of the voting power may be exer-
cised, directly or indirectly, in behalf 
of any Noncitizen; and 

(iv) By no other means whatsoever 
control of the corporation is conferred 
upon or permitted to be exercised by 
any Noncitizen; 

(2) In the case of a partnership, all 
general partners are Citizens of the 
United States and ownership and con-
trol of a majority of the partnership in-
terest, free and clear of any trust or fi-
duciary obligation in favor of any Non-
citizen, is vested in a partner or part-
ners each of whom is a Citizen of the 
United States; 

(3) In the case of an association, a 
majority of the voting power is vested 
in Citizens of the United States, free 
and clear of any trust or fiduciary obli-
gation in favor of any Noncitizen; and 

(4) In the case of a joint venture, a 
majority of the equity is owned by and 
vested in Citizens of the United States 
free and clear of any trust or fiduciary 
obligation in favor of any Noncitizen; 
but 

(5) In the case of a corporation, part-
nership, association or joint venture 
owning a vessel which is operated in 
the coastwise trade, the amount of in-
terest and voting power required to be 
owned by and vested in Citizens of the 
United States shall be not less than 75 
percent as required by 46 U.S.C. 50501. 
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(e) Documented vessel means a vessel 
documented under chapter 121, title 46, 
United States Code or a vessel for 
which an application for such docu-
mentation is pending. 

(f) Fishing vessel means a vessel that 
commercially engages in the planting, 
cultivating, catching, taking, or har-
vesting of fish, shellfish, marine ani-
mals, pearls, shells, or marine vegeta-
tion or an activity that can reasonably 
be expected to result in the planting, 
cultivating, catching, taking, or har-
vesting of fish, shellfish, marine ani-
mals, pearls, shells, or marine vegeta-
tion. 

(g) Fish processing vessel means a ves-
sel that commercially prepares fish or 
fish products other than by gutting, de-
capitating, gilling, skinning, shucking, 
icing, freezing, or brine chilling. 

(h) Fish tender vessel means a vessel 
that commercially supplies, stores, re-
frigerates, or transports (except in for-
eign commerce) fish, fish products, or 
materials directly related to fishing or 
the preparation of fish to or from a 
Fishing Vessel, Fish Processing Vessel, 
or another Fish Tender Vessel or a fish 
processing facility. 

(i) Hearing Officer means an indi-
vidual designated by the Maritime Ad-
ministrator to conduct hearings under 
Subpart E of this part and assess civil 
penalties. 

(j) Noncitizen means a Person who is 
not a Citizen of the United States. 

(k) Operation under the authority of a 
foreign country means any agreement, 
undertaking or device by which a Doc-
umented Vessel is voluntarily sub-
jected to any restriction or require-
ment, actual or contingent, under the 
laws or regulations of a foreign coun-
try or instrumentality thereof con-
cerning use or operation of the vessel 
that is or may be in derogation of the 
rights and obligations of the owner, op-
erator or master of the vessel under 
the laws of the United States, unless 
such restriction or requirement is of 
general applicability and uniformly 
imposed by such country or instrumen-
tality in exercise of its sovereign pre-
rogatives with respect to public health, 
safety or welfare, or in implementation 
of accepted principles of international 
law regarding cabotage or safety of 
navigation. 

(l) Party means the Person alleged to 
have violated the statute or regula-
tions for which a civil penalty may be 
assessed. 

(m) Person includes individuals and 
corporations, partnerships, joint ven-
tures, associations and Trusts existing 
under or authorized by the laws of the 
United States or of a State or, unless 
the context indicates otherwise, or any 
foreign country. 

(n) Pleasure vessel means a vessel that 
has been issued a Certificate of Docu-
mentation with a recreational endorse-
ment and is operated only for pleasure 
pursuant to 46 U.S.C. 12109. 

(o) Settlement means the process 
whereby a civil penalty or other dis-
position of the alleged violation is 
agreed to by the Hearing Officer and 
the Party in accordance with § 221.73 of 
this part. 

(p) State means a State of the United 
States, Guam, Puerto Rico, the Virgin 
Islands, American Samoa, the District 
of Columbia, the Commonwealth of the 
Northern Mariana Islands, and any 
other territory or possession of the 
United States. 

(q) Transfer means the passing of con-
trol of or an interest in a Documented 
Vessel and includes the involuntary 
conveyance by a foreign judicial or ad-
ministrative tribunal of any interest in 
or control of a Documented Vessel 
owned by a Citizen of the United States 
to a Noncitizen that is not eligible to 
own a Documented Vessel. 

(r) Trust means: 
(1) In the case of ownership of a Doc-

umented Vessel, a Trust that is domi-
ciled in and existing under the laws of 
the United States, or of a State, of 
which the trustee is a Citizen of the 
United States and a Controlling Inter-
est in the Trust is held for the benefit 
of Citizens of the United States; or 

(s) United States, when used in the ge-
ographic sense, means the States of the 
United States, Guam, Puerto Rico, the 
Virgin Islands, American Samoa, the 
District of Columbia, the Common-
wealth of the Northern Mariana Is-
lands, and any other territory or pos-
session of the United States; when used 
in other than the geographic sense, it 
means the United States Government. 

(t) United States Government means 
the Federal Government acting by or 
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through any of its departments or 
agencies. 

(u) Vessel Transfer Officer means the 
Maritime Administration’s Vessel 
Transfer and Disposal Officer, whose 
address is MAR–630, Maritime Adminis-
tration, United States Department of 
Transportation, 1200 New Jersey Ave. 
SE., Washington, DC 20590, or that per-
son’s delegate. 

[57 FR 23478, June 3, 1992, as amended at 63 
FR 6880, Feb. 11, 1998; 69 FR 34310, June 21, 
2004; 78 FR 35771, June 14, 2013] 

§ 221.5 Citizenship declarations. 
(a) Pursuant to 46 U.S.C. 31306(a), 

when an instrument transferring an in-
terest in a Documented Vessel owned 
by a Citizen of the United States is pre-
sented to the United States Govern-
ment for filing or recording, the Person 
filing shall submit therewith Maritime 
Administration Form No. MA–899 so it 
may be determined if 46 U.S.C. 56101 
and 56103 apply to the transaction. 
Form No. MA–899 is available from the 
Coast Guard Documentation Office at 
the port of record of the vessel or from 
the Vessel Transfer Officer. 

(b) The filing required by paragraph 
(a) of this section is not required for 
transactions involving vessel types de-
scribed in § 221.11(b)(1)(i) through (iv) of 
this part. 

(c) The filing required by paragraph 
(a) of this section is waived for trans-
actions which are given general ap-
proval in this part. 

(d) If the transfer of interest is one 
which requires written approval of the 
Maritime Administrator, the Person 
filing shall submit therewith evidence 
of that approval. 

(e) A declaration filed by any Person 
other than an individual shall be 
signed by an official authorized by that 
Person to execute the declaration. 

[57 FR 23478, June 3, 1992, as amended at 78 
FR 35771, June 14, 2013] 

§ 221.7 Applications and fees. 
(a) Applications. Whenever written ap-

proval of the Maritime Administrator 
is required for transfers to Noncitizens 
or to foreign registry or Operation 
Under Authority of a Foreign Country, 
or pursuant to a Maritime Administra-
tion contract or Order, an application 

on Maritime Administration Form 
MA–29 or MA–29B giving full particu-
lars of the proposed transaction shall 
be filed with the Vessel Transfer Offi-
cer. 

(b) Fees. Applications for written ap-
proval of any of the following trans-
actions shall be accompanied by the 
specified fee: 

(1) Transactions requiring approval 
for: 
(i) Sale and delivery by a Citizen of the United 

States to a Noncitizen, or Transfer to for-
eign registry or Operation Under Authority 
of a Foreign Country, of a Documented Ves-
sel, per vessel— 

(A) Of 1,000 gross tons and over .................. $325 
(B) Of less than 1,000 gross tons .................. 170 

(ii) Transfer of any interest in, or control of, a 
Documented Vessel owned by a Citizen of 
the United States to a Noncitizen, per vessel 250 

(iii) Charter of a Documented Vessel owned by 
a Citizen of the United States to a Noncit-
izen, per vessel .............................................. 250 

(iv) Sale or Transfer of an interest in or the 
control of an interest in an entity that is a 
Citizen of the United States and owns, or is 
the direct or indirect parent of an entity 
that owns, any Documented Vessel, if by 
such sale or Transfer the Controlling Inter-
est in such entity is vested in, or held for 
the benefit of, any Noncitizen ....................... 325 

(2) Transactions requiring written 
approval pursuant to a Maritime Ad-
ministration contract or Order: 
(i) Transfer of ownership or registry, or, both, 

of the vessel, per vessel ................................. $260 
(ii) Sale or Transfer of any interest in the 

owner of the vessel, if by such sale or Trans-
fer the Controlling Interest in the owner is 
vested in, or held for the benefit of, a Non-
citizen, per vessel .......................................... 235 

(iii) Charter of the vessel to a Noncitizen, per 
vessel ............................................................. 240 

(c) Modification of applications or ap-
provals. An application for modifica-
tion of any pending application or prior 
approval, or of an outstanding Mari-
time Administration contract or Order, 
shall be accompanied by the fee estab-
lished for the original application. 

(d) Reduction or waiver of fees. The 
Maritime Administrator, in appro-
priate circumstances, and upon a writ-
ten finding, may reduce any fee im-
posed by paragraph (b) or (c) of this 
section, or may waive the fee entirely 
in extenuating circumstances where 
the interest of the United States Gov-
ernment would be served. 

[57 FR 23478, June 3, 1992, as amended at 63 
FR 6880, Feb. 11, 1998] 
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Subpart B—Transfers to Nonciti-
zens or to Registry or Oper-
ation Under Authority of a For-
eign Country 

§ 221.11 Required approvals. 
(a) Except as provided in section 

12119 of title 46, United States Code, a 
Person may not, without the approval 
of the Maritime Administrator: 

(1) Sell, lease, charter, deliver, or in 
any manner Transfer to a Noncitizen, 
or agree (unless such agreement by its 
terms requires approval of the Mari-
time Administrator in order to effect 
such transfer), to sell, lease, charter, 
deliver, or in any manner Transfer to a 
Noncitizen, any interest in or control 
of a Documented Vessel owned by a 
Citizen of the United States or a vessel 
the last documentation of which was 
under the laws of the United States ex-
cept as provided in this part; or 

(2) Place any Documented Vessel, or 
any vessel the last documentation of 
which was under the laws of the United 
States, under foreign registry or oper-
ate that vessel under the authority of a 
foreign country, except as provided in 
this part. 

(b)(1) The approvals required by para-
graph (a)(1) of this section are not re-
quired for the following Documented 
Vessel types if the vessel has been op-
erated exclusively and with bona fides 
for one or more of the following uses, 
under a Certificate of Documentation 
with an appropriate endorsement and 
no other, since initial documentation 
or renewal of its documentation fol-
lowing construction, conversion, or 
transfer from foreign registry, or, if it 
has not yet so operated, if the vessel 
has been designed and built and will be 
operated for one or more of the fol-
lowing uses: 

(i) A Fishing vessel; 
(ii) A Fish processing vessel; 
(iii) A Fish tender vessel; and 
(iv) A Pleasure vessel. 
(2) A vessel of a type specified in 

paragraphs (b)(1)(i) through (iii) of this 
section will not be ineligible for the ap-
proval granted by this paragraph by 
reason of also holding or having held a 
Certificate of Documentation with a 
coastwise or registry endorsement, so 
long as any trading under that author-
ity has been only incidental to the ves-

sel’s principal employment in the fish-
eries and directly related thereto. 

[57 FR 23478, June 3, 1992, as amended at 63 
FR 6880, Feb. 11, 1998; 78 FR 35771, June 14, 
2013] 

§ 221.13 General approval. 

(a) Transactions other than transfer of 
registry or operation under authority of a 
foreign country. (1) The Maritime Ad-
ministrator hereby grants the approval 
required by 46 U.S.C. 56101 for the sale, 
lease, Charter, delivery, or any other 
manner of Transfer to a Noncitizen of 
an interest in or control of a Docu-
mented Vessel owned by a Citizen of 
the United States or a vessel the last 
documentation of which was under the 
laws of the United States except: 

(i) As limited by paragraph (b) of this 
section for transfers to Bowaters Cor-
porations; 

(ii) As limited by § 221.15(d) of this 
part for sales for scrapping; 

(iii) Bareboat or demise Charters of 
vessels operating in the coastwise 
trade. 

A Documented Vessel shall remain doc-
umented following any transaction ap-
proved by this paragraph (a)(1). Other 
approvals may be required by statutes 
other than 46 App. U.S.C. 808(c)(1) and/ 
or by contract for certain vessels. 

(2) The approvals granted by para-
graph (a)(1) of this section shall not 
apply to any such Transfer proposed to 
be made during any period when the 
United States is at war or during any 
national emergency, the existence of 
which has invoked the provisions of 
section 37 of the Shipping Act, 1916, as 
amended (46 App. U.S.C. 835), or to any 
such Transfer proposed to be made to a 
citizen of any country when such 
transfer would be contrary to the for-
eign policy of the United States as de-
clared by an executive department of 
the United States. 

(3) An information copy of any sales 
agreement, bareboat or demise Charter 
entered into pursuant to this approval 
shall be submitted to the Vessel Trans-
fer Officer not later than thirty days 
following a request by that official. 

(4) Except for Charters to Noncitizens 
of documented bulk cargo vessels en-
gaged in carrying bulk raw and proc-
essed agricultural commodities from 
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the United States to ports in the geo-
graphic area formerly known as the 
Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, or 
to other permissible ports of discharge 
for transshipment to the geographic 
area formerly known as the Union of 
Soviet Socialist Republics, pursuant to 
an operating- differential subsidy 
agreement that is consistent with the 
requirements of 46 CFR parts 252 and 
294, this approval excludes and does not 
apply to Transfers to a Person who is 
subject, directly or indirectly, to con-
trol of an entity within any country 
listed by the Department of Commerce 
in 15 CFR part 740, Supplement 1, 
Country Group E, unless such trans-
feree is an individual who has been law-
fully admitted into, and resides in, the 
United States, or to Charters for the 
carriage of cargoes of any kind to or 
from, or for commercial operation 
while within the waters of (as distinct 
from passage through), any of these 
countries. This list of countries is sub-
ject to change from time to time. In-
formation concerning current restric-
tions may be obtained from the Vessel 
Transfer Officer. 

(b) Bowaters corporations. (1) For doc-
umented Vessels other than those oper-
ating in the coastwise trade, the ap-
provals granted in paragraph (a) of this 
section shall apply to Bowaters Cor-
porations. 

(2) The Maritime Administrator here-
by grants approval for the time charter 
of a Documented Vessel of any tonnage 
by a Citizen of the United States to a 
Bowaters Corporation for operation in 
the coastwise trade, subject to the fol-
lowing conditions: 

(i) If non-self-propelled or, if self-pro-
pelled and less than 500 gross tons, no 
such vessel shall engage in the fisheries 
or in the transportation of merchan-
dise or passengers for hire between 
points in the United States embraced 
within the coastwise laws except as a 
service for a parent or subsidiary cor-
poration; and 

(ii) If non-self-propelled or, if self- 
propelled and less than 500 gross tons, 
no such vessel may be subchartered or 
subleased from any such Bowaters Cor-
poration except: 

(A) At prevailing rates; 
(B) For use otherwise than in the do-

mestic noncontiguous trades; 

(C) To a common or contract carrier 
subject to part 3 of the Interstate Com-
merce Act, as amended, which other-
wise qualifies as a Citizen of the United 
States and which is not connected, di-
rectly or indirectly, by way of owner-
ship or control with such corporation. 

[57 FR 23478, June 3, 1992, as amended at 63 
FR 6880, Feb. 11, 1998; 69 FR 54248, Sept. 8, 
2004; 78 FR 35771, June 14, 2013] 

§ 221.15 Approval for transfer of reg-
istry or operation under authority 
of a foreign country or for scrap-
ping in a foreign country. 

In no case will approval be granted to 
place under foreign registry or to oper-
ate under the authority of a foreign 
country a Fishing Vessel, Fish Proc-
essing Vessel, or Fish Tender Vessel 
that has had its fishery endorsement 
revoked pursuant to Appendix D of 
Public Law 106–554, 114 Stat 2763. Sub-
ject to this exclusion, approval re-
quests will be considered as set forth in 
this section. 

(a) Vessels of under 1,000 gross tons. (1) 
The Maritime Administrator hereby 
grants approval for the Transfer to for-
eign registry and flag or Operation 
Under the Authority of a Foreign 
Country or for scrapping in a foreign 
country of Documented Vessels or ves-
sels the last documentation of which 
was under the laws of the United 
States and which are of under 1,000 
gross tons if at the time of such Trans-
fer there are no liens or encumbrances 
recorded against the vessel in the U.S. 
Coast Guard Documentation Office at 
its last U.S. port of record. 

(2) This approval shall not apply if 
the vessel is to be placed under the reg-
istry, or operated under the authority 
of, or scrapped in any country listed in 
§ 221.13(a)(4) of this part. 

(3) This approval shall not apply to 
any such Transfer proposed to be made 
during any period when the United 
States is at war or during any national 
emergency, the existence of which has 
invoked the provisions of 46 U.S.C. 
56102, or to any such Transfer proposed 
to be made to a citizen of any country 
when such transfer would be contrary 
to the foreign policy of the United 
States as declared by an executive de-
partment of the United States. 

VerDate Sep<11>2014 10:42 Dec 01, 2020 Jkt 250212 PO 00000 Frm 00053 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Q:\46\46V8.TXT PC31kp
ay

ne
 o

n 
V

M
O

F
R

W
IN

70
2 

w
ith

 $
$_

JO
B



44 

46 CFR Ch. II (10–1–20 Edition) § 221.15 

(b) Vessels of 1,000 gross tons or more. 
(1) Applications for approval of Trans-
fer to foreign registry and flag or Oper-
ation Under the Authority of a Foreign 
Country or for scrapping in a foreign 
country of Documented Vessels or ves-
sels the last documentation of which 
was under the laws of the United 
States and which are of 1,000 gross tons 
or more will be evaluated in light of— 

(i) The type, size speed, general con-
dition, and age of the vessel; 

(ii) The acceptability of the owner, 
proposed transferee and the country of 
registry or the country under the au-
thority of which the vessel is to be op-
erated; and 

(iii) The need to retain the vessel 
under U.S. documentation, ownership 
or control for purposes of national de-
fense, maintenance of an adequate 
merchant marine, foreign policy con-
siderations or the national interest. 

(2) If the application is found to be 
acceptable under the criteria of this 
paragraph, approval will be granted. 
For vessels of under 3,000 gross tons, in 
the absence of unusual circumstances, 
no conditions will be imposed on the 
transfer. For vessels of 3,000 gross tons 
and above, approval will be granted 
upon acceptance by the owner of the 
terms and conditions referred to in 
paragraph (c) or (d) of this section, as 
applicable. Additional terms deemed 
appropriate by the Maritime Adminis-
trator may be imposed. The terms and 
conditions shall be contained in an Ap-
proval Notice and Agreement (‘‘Con-
tract’’) executed prior to issuance of 
the Transfer Order. Unless otherwise 
specified, the terms and conditions 
shall remain in effect for the period of 
the remaining economic life of the ves-
sel or for the duration of a national 
emergency proclaimed by the Presi-
dent prior or subsequent to such Trans-
fer, whichever period is longer. The 
economic life of a vessel for purposes of 
this regulation is deemed to be twenty 
(20) years for tankers and other liquid 
bulk carriers and twenty-five (25) years 
for other vessel types. This period is to 
be calculated from the date the vessel 
was originally accepted for delivery 
from the shipbuilder, but may be ex-
tended for such additional period of 
time as may be determined by the Mar-
itime Administrator if the vessel has 

been substantially rebuilt or modified 
in a manner that warrants such exten-
sion. 

(c) Foreign transfer other than for 
scrapping. If the foreign Transfer of a 
vessel referred to in paragraph (b) of 
this section is other than for the pur-
pose of scrapping the vessel and other 
than a Transfer to the government of 
an acceptable foreign country, and in 
the absence of unusual circumstances 
as determined by the Maritime Admin-
istrator (for example a Transfer to an 
entity controlled by the government of 
an acceptable foreign country), the fol-
lowing conditions will be imposed on 
the transferee: 

(1) Ownership. (i) Without the prior 
written approval of the Maritime Ad-
ministrator, there shall be no further 
Transfer of ownership, change in the 
registry or Operation of such vessel 
Under the Authority of a Foreign 
Country; provided, however, that, if 
the Transfer of ownership is to a Cit-
izen of the United States or other enti-
ty qualified under 46 U.S.C. 12102(a) to 
document a vessel and the vessel is 
thereafter documented under U.S. law, 
no prior written approval shall be re-
quired but the transferee shall notify 
the Vessel Transfer Officer in writing 
of such change in the ownership and 
the U.S. documentation within thirty 
(30) days after such change in owner-
ship and documentation. 

(ii) The restrictions contained in 
paragraph (c)(1)(i) of this section shall 
not be applicable to a change in owner-
ship resulting from the death of the 
vessel owner, so long as notification of 
any such Transfer of ownership occur-
ring by reason of death shall be filed 
with the Vessel Transfer Officer within 
60 days from the date of such Transfer 
identifying with particularity the 
name, legal capacity, citizenship, cur-
rent domicile or address of, or other 
method of direct communication with, 
the transferee(s). 

(2) Requisition. The vessel shall, if re-
quested by the United States, be sold 
or Chartered to the United States on 
the same terms and conditions upon 
which a vessel owned by a Citizen of 
the United States or documented under 
U.S. law could be requisitioned for pur-
chase or Charter pursuant to 46 U.S.C. 
chapters 563 and 565. If the vessel is 
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under the flag of a country that is a 
member of the North Atlantic Treaty 
Organization (NATO), the Maritime 
Administrator will consider this condi-
tion satisfied if the owner furnishes 
satisfactory evidence that the vessel is 
already in noncommercial service 
under the direction of the government 
of a NATO country. 

(3) Trade. Without the prior written 
approval of the Maritime Adminis-
trator, the vessel shall not carry car-
goes of any kind to or from, or be oper-
ated commercially while within the 
waters of (as distinct from passage 
through), a country referred to in 
§ 221.13(a)(4) of this part, nor shall there 
be any Charter or other Transfer of an 
interest in the vessel, other than to a 
Citizen of the United States, for car-
riage of cargoes of any kind to or from, 
or for commercial operation while 
within the waters of (as distinct from 
passage through), any such country. 

(4) Default. In the event of default 
under any or all of the conditions set 
forth in paragraphs (c) (1), (2) or (3) of 
this section, the owner shall pay to the 
Maritime Administration, without 
prejudice to any other rights that the 
United States may have, as liquidated 
damages and not as a penalty, the sum 
of not less than $25,000 or more than 
$1,000,000, as specified in the contract, 
and the vessel shall be subject to the 
penalties imposed by 46 App. U.S.C. 808 
and 839. Pursuant to 46 U.S.C. 56105, the 
Maritime Administrator may remit 
forfeiture of the vessel upon such con-
ditions as may be required under the 
circumstances of the particular case, 
including the payment of a sum in lieu 
of forfeiture, and execution of a new 
agreement containing substantially 
the same conditions set forth above 
and such others as the Maritime Ad-
ministrator may deem appropriate and 
which will be applicable to the vessel 
for the remaining period of the original 
agreement. In order to secure the pay-
ment of any such sums of money as 
may be required as a result of default, 
the transferee shall contractually 
agree, in form and substance approved 
by the Chief Counsel of the Maritime 
Administration, to comply with the 
above conditions and to provide a 
United States commercial surety bond 
or other surety acceptable to the Mari-

time Administrator for an amount not 
less than $25,000 and not more than 
$1,000,000, depending upon the type, size 
and condition of the vessel. ‘‘Other sur-
ety’’ may be any one of the following: 

(i) An irrevocable letter of credit, 
which is acceptable to the Maritime 
Administrator, issued or guaranteed by 
a Citizen of the United States or by a 
federally insured depository institu-
tion; 

(ii) A pledge of United States Govern-
ment securities; 

(iii) The written guarantee of a 
friendly government of which the 
transferee is a national; 

(iv) A written guarantee or bond by a 
United States corporation found by the 
Maritime Administrator to be finan-
cially qualified to service the under-
taking to pay the stipulated amount; 

(v) If the transferee is controlled in 
any manner by one or more Citizens of 
the United States, a contractual agree-
ment in form and substance acceptable 
to the Chief Counsel of the Maritime 
Administration by the transferee and 
the Citizens of the United States with 
authority to exercise such control, if 
found by the Maritime Administrator 
to be financially qualified, jointly and 
severally to pay the stipulated amount, 
such agreement to be secured by the 
written guarantee of the transferee and 
each of the Citizens of the United 
States or other form of guarantee as 
may be required by the Maritime Ad-
ministrator; or 

(vi) Any other surety acceptable to 
the Maritime Administrator and ap-
proved as to form and substance by the 
Chief Counsel of the Maritime Admin-
istration. 

(d) Foreign transfer for scrapping. If 
the transfer of control, whether or not 
there is a transfer of registry, of a ves-
sel referred to in paragraph (b) of this 
section is for the purpose of scrapping 
the vessel abroad, the following condi-
tions will be imposed on the transferee: 

(1) The vessel or any interest therein 
shall not be subsequently sold to any 
Person without the prior written ap-
proval of the Maritime Administrator, 
nor shall it be used for the carriage of 
cargo or passengers of any kind what-
soever. 

(2) Within a period of 18 months from 
the date of approval of the sale, the 
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hull of the vessel shall be completely 
scrapped, dismantled, dismembered, or 
destroyed in such manner and to such 
extent as to prevent the further use 
thereof, or any part thereof, as a ship, 
barge, or any other means of transpor-
tation. 

(3) The scrap resulting from the dem-
olition of the hull of the vessel, the en-
gines, machinery, and major items of 
equipment shall not be sold to, or uti-
lized by, any citizen or instrumentality 
of a country referred to in § 221.13(a)(4) 
of the part, nor may such scrap be ex-
ported to these countries. The engines, 
machinery and major items of equip-
ment shall not be exported to destina-
tions within the United States. 

(4) In the event of default under any 
or all of the conditions set forth in 
paragraphs (d) (1), (2) or (3) of this sec-
tion, the transferee shall pay to the 
Maritime Administration, without 
prejudice to any other rights that the 
United States may have, as liquidated 
damages and not as a penalty, the sum 
of not less than $25,000 or more than 
$1,000,000, as specified in the contract, 
depending upon the size, type and con-
dition of the vessel. This payment shall 
be secured by a surety company bond 
or other surety satisfactory to the 
Maritime Administrator. ‘‘Other sur-
ety’’ may be one of those set out in 
paragraph (c)(4) (i) through (vi) of this 
section. 

(5) There shall be filed with the Ves-
sel Transfer Officer a certificate or 
other evidence satisfactory to the Chief 
Counsel of the Maritime Administra-
tion, duly attested and authenticated 
by a United States Consul, that the 
scrapping of the vessel (hull only) and 
disposal or utilization of the resultant 
scrap and the engines, machinery and 
major items of equipment have been 
accomplished in accord with para-
graphs (d) (2) and (3) of this section. 

(e) Resident agent for service. (1) Any 
proposed foreign transferee shall, prior 
to the issuance and delivery of the 
Transfer Order covering the vessel or 
vessels to be transferred, designate and 
appoint a resident agent in the United 
States to receive and accept service of 
process or other notice in any action or 
proceeding instituted by the United 
States relating to any claim arising 
out of the approved transaction. 

(2) The resident agent designated and 
appointed by the foreign transferee 
shall be subject to approval by the 
Maritime Administrator. To be accept-
able, the resident agent must maintain 
a permanent place of business in the 
United States and shall be a banking or 
lending institution, a ship-owner or 
ship-operating corporation or other 
business entity that is satisfactory to 
the Maritime Administrator. 

(3) Appointment and designation of 
the resident agent shall not be termi-
nated, revoked, amended or altered 
without the prior written approval of 
the Maritime Administrator. 

(4) The foreign transferee shall file 
with the Vessel Transfer Officer a writ-
ten copy of the appointment of the 
resident agent, which copy shall be 
fully endorsed by the resident agent 
stating that it accepts the appoint-
ment, that it will act thereunder and 
that it will notify the Vessel Transfer 
Officer in writing in the event it be-
comes disqualified from so acting by 
reason of any legal restrictions. Serv-
ice of process or notice upon any offi-
cer, agent or employee of the resident 
agent at its permanent place of busi-
ness shall constitute effective service 
on, or notice to, the foreign transferee. 

(f) Administrative provisions. (1) The 
subsequent Transfer of ownership or 
registry of vessels that have been 
Transferred to foreign ownership or 
registry or both, or to Operation Under 
the Authority of a Foreign Country, 
that remain subject to Maritime Ad-
ministration contractual control as set 
forth above, will be subject to substan-
tially the same Maritime Administra-
tion policy considerations that gov-
erned the original Transfer, including 
such changes or modifications that 
have subsequently been made and con-
tinued in effect. Approval of these sub-
sequent Transfers will be subject to the 
same terms and conditions governing 
the foreign Transfer at the time of the 
previous Transfer, as modified (if appli-
cable). 

(2) The authorization for all approved 
transactions, either by virtue of U.S.C. 
chapter 561 or the Maritime Adminis-
tration’s Contract with the vessel 
owner, will be by notification in the 
form of a Transfer Order upon receipt 
of the executed Contract, the required 
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bond or other surety, and other sup-
porting documentation required by the 
Contract. 

(3) In order that the Maritime Ad-
ministration’s records may be main-
tained on a current basis, the trans-
feror and transferee of the vessel are 
required to notify the Vessel Transfer 
Officer of the date and place where the 
approved transaction was completed, 
and the name of the vessel, if changed. 
This information relating to the com-
pletion of the transaction and any 
change in name shall be furnished as 
soon as possible, but not later than 10 
days after the same has occurred. 

[57 FR 23478, June 3, 1992, as amended at 63 
FR 6881, Feb. 11, 1998; 66 FR 55596, Nov. 2, 
2001; 78 FR 35771, June 14, 2013] 

§ 221.17 Sale of a documented vessel 
by order of a district court. 

(a) A Documented Vessel may be sold 
by order of a district court only to a 
Person eligible to own a Documented 
Vessel or to a mortgagee of the vessel. 
Unless waived by the Maritime Admin-
istrator, a Person purchasing the ves-
sel pursuant to court order or from a 
mortgagee not eligible to document a 
vessel who purchased the vessel pursu-
ant to a court order must document 
the vessel under chapter 121 of title 46, 
United States Code. 

(b) A Person purchasing the vessel, 
pursuant to court order or from a 
mortgagee not eligible to document a 
vessel who purchased the vessel pursu-
ant to a court order, and wishing to ob-
tain waiver of the documentation re-
quirement must submit a request in-
cluding the reason therefor to the Ves-
sel Transfer Officer. 

(c)(1) A mortgagee not eligible to 
own a Documented Vessel shall not op-
erate, or cause operation of, the vessel 
in commerce. Except as provided in 
paragraph (c)(2) of this section, the ves-
sel may not be operated for any pur-
pose without the prior written ap-
proval of the Maritime Administrator. 

(2) The Maritime Administrator here-
by grants approval for a mortgagee not 
eligible to own a Documented Vessel to 
operate the vessel to the extent nec-
essary for the immediate safety of the 
vessel or for repairs, drydocking or 
berthing changes, but only under the 

command of a Citizen of the United 
States. 

[57 FR 23478, June 3, 1992, as amended at 63 
FR 6881, Feb. 11, 1998] 

§ 221.19 Possession or sale of vessels 
by mortgagees or trustees other 
than pursuant to court order. 

(a) A mortgagee or a trustee of a pre-
ferred mortgage on a Documented Ves-
sel that is not eligible to own a Docu-
mented Vessel does not require the ex-
press approval of the Maritime Admin-
istrator to take possession of the vessel 
in the event of default by the mort-
gagor other than by foreclosure pursu-
ant to 46 U.S.C. 31329, if provided for in 
the mortgage or a related financing 
document, but in such event the vessel 
may not be operated, or caused to be 
operated, in commerce. The vessel may 
not, except as provided in paragraph (b) 
of this section, be operated for any 
other purpose unless approved in writ-
ing by the Maritime Administrator, 
nor may the vessel be sold to a Noncit-
izen without the approval of the Mari-
time Administrator. 

(b) The Maritime Administrator 
hereby grants approval for such mort-
gagee or trustee to operate the vessel 
to the extent necessary for the imme-
diate safety of the vessel, for its direct 
return to the United States or for its 
movement within the United States, or 
for repairs, drydocking or berthing 
changes, but only under the command 
of a Citizen of the United States. 

(c) A Noncitizen mortgagee that has 
brought a civil action in rem for en-
forcement of a preferred mortgage lien 
on a citizen-owned Documented Vessel 
pursuant to 46 U.S.C. 31325(b)(1) may 
petition the court pursuant to 46 U.S.C. 
31325(e)(1) for appointment of a receiver 
and, if the receiver is Person eligible to 
own a Documented Vessel, to authorize 
the receiver to operate the mortgaged 
vessel on such terms and conditions as 
the court deems appropriate. If the re-
ceiver is not a Citizen of the United 
States, the vessel may not be operated 
in coastwise trade without prior writ-
ten approval of the Maritime Adminis-
trator. 

[57 FR 23478, June 3, 1992, as amended at 63 
FR 6881, Feb. 11, 1998] 
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Subpart C [Reserved] 

Subpart D—Transactions Involving 
Maritime Interests in Time of 
War or National Emergency 
Under 46 App. U.S.C. 835 [Re-
served] 

Subpart E—Civil Penalties 

§ 221.61 Compliance. 

(a) This subpart describes procedures 
for the administration of civil pen-
alties that the Maritime Administra-
tion may assess under 46 U.S.C. 31309, 
31330, and 56101, pursuant to 49 U.S.C. 
336. 

(b) Pursuant to 46 U.S.C. 31309, a gen-
eral penalty of not more than $21,038 
may be assessed for each violation of 
chapter 313 or 46 U.S.C. subtitle III ad-
ministered by the Maritime Adminis-
tration, and the regulations in this 
part that are promulgated thereunder, 
except that a person violating 46 U.S.C. 
31329 and the regulations promulgated 
thereunder is liable for a civil penalty 
of not more than $52,596 for each viola-
tion. A person that charters, sells, 
transfers or mortgages a vessel, or an 
interest therein, in violation of 46 
U.S.C. 56101(e) is liable for a civil pen-
alty of not more than $21,134 for each 
violation. 

[84 FR 37070, July 31, 2019] 

§ 221.63 Investigation. 

(a) When the Vessel Transfer Office 
obtains information that a Person may 
have violated a statute or regulation 
for which a civil penalty may be as-
sessed under this subpart, that Officer 
may investigate the matter and decide 
whether there is sufficient evidence to 
establish a prima facie case that a vio-
lation occurred. 

(b) If that Officer decides there is a 
prima facie case, then that Officer may 
enter into a stipulation with the Party 
in accordance with § 221.67 of this sub-
part, or may refer the matter directly 
to a Hearing Officer for procedures in 
accordance with § 221.73 to 221.89 of this 
subpart. 

§ 221.65 Criteria for determining pen-
alty. 

In determining any penalties as-
sessed, the Vessel Transfer Officer 
under § 221.67 and the Hearing Officer 
under §§ 221.73 to 221.89 of this part 
shall take into account the nature, cir-
cumstances, extent and gravity of the 
violation committed and, with respect 
to the Party, the degree of culpability, 
any history of prior offenses, ability to 
pay and other matters that justice re-
quires. 

§ 221.67 Stipulation procedure. 
(a) When the Vessel Transfer Office 

decides to proceed under this section, 
that Office shall notify the Party in 
writing by registered or certified 
mail— 

(1) Of the alleged violation and the 
applicable statute and regulations; 

(2) Of the maximum penalty that 
may be assessed for each violation; 

(3) Of a summary of the evidence sup-
porting the violation; 

(4) Of the penalty that the Vessel 
Transfer Officer will accept in settle-
ment of the violation; 

(5) Of the right to examine all the 
material in the case file and have a 
copy of all written documents provided 
upon request; 

(6) That by accepting the penalty, 
the Party waives the right to have the 
matter considered by a Hearing Officer 
in accordance with §§ 221.73 to 221.89 of 
this subpart, and that if the Party 
elects to have the matter considered by 
a Hearing Officer, the Hearing Officer 
may assess a penalty less than, equal 
to, or greater than that stipulated in 
settlement if the Hearing Officer finds 
that a violation occurred; and 

(7) That a violation will be kept on 
record and may be used by the Mari-
time Administration in aggravation of 
an assessment of a penalty for a subse-
quent violation by that Party. 

(b) Upon receipt of the notification 
specified in paragraph (a) of this sec-
tion, a Party may within 30 days— 

(1) Agree to the stipulated penalty in 
the manner specified in the notifica-
tion; or 

(2) Notify in writing the Vessel 
Transfer Officer that the Party elects 
to have the matter considered by a 
Hearing Officer in accordance with the 
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procedure specified in §§ 221.73 through 
221.89 of this subpart. 

(c) If, within 30 days of receipt of the 
notification specified in paragraph (a) 
of this section, the Party neither 
agrees to the penalty nor elects the in-
formal hearing procedure, the Party 
will be deemed to have waived its right 
to the informal hearing procedure and 
the penalty will be considered accept-
ed. If a monetary penalty is assessed, it 
is due and payable to the United 
States, and the Maritime Administra-
tion may initiate appropriate action to 
collect the penalty. 

§ 221.69 Hearing Officer. 
(a) The Hearing Officer shall have no 

responsibility, direct or supervisory, 
for the investigation of cases referred 
for the assessment of civil penalties. 

(b) The Hearing Officer shall decide 
each case on the basis of the evidence 
before him or her, and must have no 
prior connection with the case. The 
Hearing Officer is solely responsible for 
the decision in each case referred to 
him or her. 

(c) The Hearing Officer is authorized 
to administer oaths and issue sub-
poenas necessary to the conduct of a 
hearing, to the extent provided by law. 

§ 221.71 Hearing Officer referral. 
If, pursuant to § 221.67(b)(2) of this 

subpart, a Party elects to have the 
matter referred to a Hearing Officer, 
the Vessel Transfer Officer may— 

(a) Decide not to proceed with pen-
alty action, close the case, and notify 
the Party in writing that the case has 
been closed; or 

(b) Refer the matter to a Hearing Of-
ficer with the case file and a record of 
any prior violations by the Party. 

§ 221.73 Initial Hearing Officer consid-
eration. 

(a) When a case is received for action, 
the Hearing Officer shall examine the 
material submitted. If the Hearing Of-
ficer determines that there is insuffi-
cient evidence to proceed, or that there 
is any other reason which would make 
penalty action inappropriate, the Hear-
ing Officer shall return the case to the 
Vessel Transfer Officer with a written 
statement of the reason. The Vessel 
Transfer Officer may close the case or 

investigate the matter further. If addi-
tional evidence supporting a violation 
is discovered, the Vessel Transfer Offi-
cer may resubmit the matter to the 
Hearing Officer. 

(b) If the Hearing Officer determines 
that there is reason to believe that a 
violation has been committed, the 
Hearing Officer notifies the Party in 
writing by registered or certified mail 
of— 

(1) The alleged violation and the ap-
plicable statute and regulations; 

(2) The maximum penalty that may 
be assessed for each violation; 

(3) The general nature of the proce-
dure for assessing and collecting the 
penalty; 

(4) The amount of the penalty that 
appears to be appropriate, based on the 
material then available to the Hearing 
Officer; 

(5) The right to examine all the ma-
terial in the case file and have a copy 
of all written documents provided upon 
requests; and 

(6) The right to request a hearing. 
(c) If at any time it appears that the 

addition of another Party to the pro-
ceedings is necessary or desirable, the 
Hearing Officer will provide the addi-
tional Party and the Party alleged to 
be in violation with notice as described 
above. 

(d) At any time during a proceeding, 
before the Hearing Officer issues a de-
cision under § 221.89, the Hearing Offi-
cer and the Party may agree to a Set-
tlement of the case. 

§ 221.75 Response by party. 
(a) Within 30 days after receipt of no-

tice from the Hearing Officer, the 
Party, or counsel for the Party, may— 

(1) Pay the amount specified in the 
notice as being appropriate; 

(2) In writing request a hearing, 
specifying the issues in dispute; or 

(3) Submit written evidence or argu-
ments in lieu of a hearing. 

(b) The right to a hearing is waived if 
the Party does not submit a request to 
the Hearing Officer within 30 days after 
receipt of notice from the Hearing Offi-
cer, unless additional time has been 
granted by the Hearing Officer. 

(c) The Hearing Officer has discretion 
as to the venue and scheduling of a 
hearing. The hearing will normally be 

VerDate Sep<11>2014 10:42 Dec 01, 2020 Jkt 250212 PO 00000 Frm 00059 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Q:\46\46V8.TXT PC31kp
ay

ne
 o

n 
V

M
O

F
R

W
IN

70
2 

w
ith

 $
$_

JO
B



50 

46 CFR Ch. II (10–1–20 Edition) § 221.77 

held at the office of the Hearing Offi-
cer. A request for a change of location 
of a hearing or transfer to another 
Hearing Officer must be in writing and 
state the reasons why the requested ac-
tion is necessary or desirable. Action 
on the request is at the discretion of 
the Hearing Officer. 

(d) A Party who has requested a hear-
ing may amend the specification of the 
issues in dispute at any time up to 10 
days before the scheduled date of the 
hearing. Issues raised later than 10 
days before the schedule hearing may 
be presented only at the discretion of 
the Hearing Officer. 

§ 221.77 Disclosure of evidence. 

The Party shall, upon request, be 
provided a free copy of all the evidence 
in the case file, except material that 
would disclose or lead to the disclosure 
of the identity of a confidential in-
formant and any other information 
properly exempt from disclosure. 

§ 221.79 Request for confidential treat-
ment. 

(a) In addition to information treated 
as confidential under § 221.77 of this 
subpart, a request for confidential 
treatment of a document or portion 
thereof may be made by the Person 
supplying the information on the basis 
that the information is— 

(1) Confidential financial informa-
tion, trade secrets, or other material 
exempt from disclosure by the Free-
dom of Information Act (5 U.S.C. 552); 

(2) Required to be held in confidence 
by 18 U.S.C. 1905; or 

(3) Otherwise exempt by law from dis-
closure. 

(b) The Person desiring confidential 
treatment must submit the request to 
the Hearing Officer in writing and the 
reasons justifying nondisclosure. The 
Hearing Officer shall forward any re-
quest for confidential treatment to the 
appropriate official of the Maritime 
Administration for a determination 
hereon. Failure to make a timely re-
quest may result in a document being 
considered as nonconfidential and sub-
ject to release. 

(c) Confidential material shall not be 
considered by the Hearing Officer in 
reaching a decision unless— 

(1) It has been furnished by a Party; 
or 

(2) It has been furnished pursuant to 
a subpoena. 

§ 221.81 Counsel. 
A Party has the right to be rep-

resented at all stages of the proceeding 
by counsel. After receiving notification 
that a Party is represented by counsel, 
the Hearing Officer will direct all fur-
ther communications to that counsel. 

§ 221.83 Witnesses. 
A Party may present the testimony 

of any witness either through a per-
sonal appearance or through a written 
statement. The Party may request the 
assistance of the Hearing Officer in ob-
taining the personal appearance of a 
witness. The request must be in writ-
ing and state the reasons why a written 
statement would be inadequate, the 
issue or issues to which the testimony 
would be relevant, and the substance of 
the expected testimony. If the Hearing 
Officer determines that the personal 
appearance of the witness may materi-
ally aid in the decision on the case, the 
Hearing Officer will seek to obtain the 
witness’ appearance. The Hearing Offi-
cer may move the hearing to the wit-
ness’ location, accept a written state-
ment, or accept a stipulation in lieu of 
testimony. 

§ 221.85 Hearing procedures. 
(a) The Hearing Officer shall conduct 

a fair and impartial proceeding in 
which the Party is given a full oppor-
tunity to be heard. At the opening of a 
hearing, the Hearing Officer shall ad-
vise the Party of the nature of the pro-
ceedings and of the alleged violation. 

(b) The material in the case file per-
tinent to the issues to be determined 
by the Hearing Officer shall first be 
presented. The Party may examine, re-
spond to and rebut this material. The 
Party may offer any facts, statements, 
explanations, documents, sworn or 
unsworn testimony, or other excul-
patory items that bear on the issues, or 
which may be relevant to the size of an 
appropriate penalty. The Hearing Offi-
cer may require the authentication of 
any written exhibit or statement. 

(c) At the close of the Party’s presen-
tation of evidence, the Hearing Officer 
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may allow the introduction of rebuttal 
evidence. The Hearing Officer may 
allow the Party to respond to rebuttal 
evidence submitted. 

(d) In receiving evidence, the Hearing 
Officer shall not be bound by the strict 
rules of evidence. In evaluating the evi-
dence presented, the Hearing Officer 
shall give due consideration to the reli-
ability and relevance of each item of 
evidence. 

(e) After the evidence in the case has 
been presented, the Party may present 
argument on the issues in the case. The 
party may also request an opportunity 
to submit a written statement for con-
sideration by the Hearing Officer. The 
Hearing Officer shall allow a reason-
able time for submission of the state-
ment and shall specify the date by 
which it must be received. If the state-
ment is not received within the speci-
fied time, the Hearing Officer may 
render a decision in the case without 
consideration of the statement. 

§ 221.87 Records. 
(a) A verbatim transcript of a hear-

ing will not normally be prepared. The 
Hearing Officer will prepare notes on 
material and points raised by the 
Party in sufficient detail to permit a 
full and fair review of the case. 

(b) A Party may, at its own expense, 
cause a verbatim transcript to be 
made, in which event the Party shall 
submit, without charge, two copies to 
the Hearing Officer within 30 days of 
the close of the hearing. 

§ 221.89 Hearing Officer’s decision. 
(a) The Hearing Officer shall issue a 

written decision. Any decision to as-
sess a penalty shall be based on sub-
stantial evidence in the record, and 
shall state the basis for the decision. 

(b) If the Hearing Officer finds that 
there is not substantial evidence in the 
record establishing the alleged viola-
tion, the Hearing Officer shall dismiss 
the case. A dismissal is without preju-
dice to the Vessel Transfer Officer’s 
right to refile the case if additional 
evidence is obtained. A dismissal fol-
lowing a rehearing is final and with 
prejudice. 

(c) The Hearing Officer shall notify 
the Party in writing, by certified or 
registered mail, of the decision and, if 

adverse, shall advise the Party of the 
right to an administrative appeal to 
the Maritime Administrator or an indi-
vidual designated by the Administrator 
from that decision. 

(d) If an appeal is not filed within the 
prescribed time, the decision of the 
Hearing Officer constitutes final agen-
cy action in the case. 

§ 221.91 Appeals. 

(a) Any appeal from the decision of 
the Hearing Officer must be submitted 
in writing by the Party to the Hearing 
Officer within 30 days from the date of 
receipt of the Hearing Officer’s deci-
sion. 

(b) The only issues that will be con-
sidered on appeal are those issues spec-
ified in the appeal which were raised 
before the Hearing Officer and jurisdic-
tional questions. 

(c) There is no right to oral argument 
on an appeal. 

(d) The Maritime Administrator or 
an individual designated by the Admin-
istrator will issue a written decision on 
the appeal, and may affirm, reverse, or 
modify the decision, or remand the 
case for new or additional proceedings. 
In the absence of a remand, the deci-
sion on appeal is final agency action. 

(e) The Maritime Administrator or 
an individual designated by the Admin-
istrator shall notify the Party in writ-
ing, by certified or registered mail, of 
the decision on appeal and, if adverse, 
shall advise the Party of the right of 
appeal to the courts. 

§ 221.93 Collection of civil penalties. 

Within 30 days after receipt of the 
Hearing Officer’s decision, or a decision 
on appeal, the Party must submit pay-
ment of any assessed penalty in the 
manner specified in the decision letter. 
Failure to make timely payment will 
result in the institution of appropriate 
action to collect the penalty. 

Subpart F—Other Transfers Involv-
ing Documented Vessels [Re-
served] 
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Subpart G—Savings Provisions 
§ 221.111 Status of prior transactions— 

controlling dates. 
(a) The Maritime Administrator 

hereby grants approval for any trans-
action occurring on or after January 1, 
1989 and prior to July 3, 1991 that was 
lawful under 46 CFR part 221, revised as 
of October 1, 1989. 

(b) The Maritime Administrator 
hereby grants approval for any trans-
action occurring on or after July 3, 1991 
and prior to June 3, 1992 that was law-
ful under 46 CFR part 221, revised as of 
October 1, 1991. 

(c) Any transaction approved by the 
Maritime Administrator prior to Janu-
ary 1, 1989, or any transaction that did 
not require such approval prior to that 
date, shall continue to be lawful. 

PART 232—UNIFORM FINANCIAL 
REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

Sec. 
232.1 Purpose and applicability. 
232.2 General instructions. 
232.3 Chart of accounts. 

BALANCE SHEET 

232.4 Balance sheet accounts. 

INCOME STATEMENT 

232.5 Income statement accounts. 
232.6 Financial report filing requirement. 

AUTHORITY: Section 204(b), Merchant Ma-
rine Act, 1936, as amended (46 App. U.S.C. 
1114(b)); 49 CFR 1.66. 

SOURCE: 48 FR 30122, June 30, 1983, unless 
otherwise noted. 

§ 232.1 Purpose and applicability. 
(a) Purpose. The purpose of this regu-

lation is to establish uniform reporting 
requirements for the preparation of fi-
nancial reports and submissions of in-
formation to the Maritime Administra-
tion. The Maritime Administration 
will, as necessary, issue clarifying in-
structions to those subject to these re-
porting requirements to assist in their 
interpretation and application. The 
uniform reporting requirements consist 
of: 

(1) A chart of accounts defined in this 
regulation. 

(2) Standard financial report formats, 
set forth in Form MA–172 (Revised). 

(b) Applicability. This regulation is 
application to all participants in finan-
cial assistant programs administered 
by the Maritime Administration, U.S. 
Department of Transportation, that 
are required to file periodic financial 
reports with that agency. 

[48 FR 30122, June 30, 1983, as amended at 58 
FR 62043, Nov. 24, 1993] 

§ 232.2 General instructions. 
(a) Use of generally accepted account-

ing principles. All contractors shall con-
form their accounting policies to gen-
erally accepted accounting principles 
(promulgated by the Financial Ac-
counting Standards Board of the Amer-
ican Institute of Certified Public Ac-
countants). 

(b) Need to conform accounting infor-
mation. All contractors may continue 
to use their current accounting sys-
tem, if the system provides a basis for 
the preparation of reports in the pre-
scribed formats and is consistent with 
generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples. 

(c) Reconciliation of financial reports. 
When a program participant issues cer-
tified financial statements following 
accounting policies different from 
those followed for the financial state-
ment filed with the Maritime Adminis-
tration (such as reports filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, 
public service commissions or other 
regulatory agencies, or reports using 
other acceptable accounting methods 
differing from methods used for this 
regulation’s purposes), the program 
participant shall clearly set forth the 
nature and amount of each adjustment 
necessary to reconcile the published 
statements with those filed with the 
Maritime Administration. 

(d) Submission of questions. (1) A con-
tractor may submit in writing, or by 
electronic options (such as facsimile 
and Internet), if practicable, any ques-
tion involving the interpretation of 
any provision of this part for consider-
ation and decision to the Director, Of-
fice of Financial and Rate Approvals, 
for the Maritime Security Program, or 
Director, Office of Ship Financing, for 
the Maritime Loan Guarantee Program 
(Title XI), Maritime Administration, 
Department of Transportation, 400 Sev-
enth Street, SW., Washington, DC 
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